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TO THE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN 

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (“Bank of 

America” or “Defendant”), by and through its undersigned counsel, hereby removes the above-

entitled action currently pending in the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the 

County of Alameda (the “State Court”) to the United States District Court for the Northern District 

of California on the grounds that this Court has original jurisdiction over this civil action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332(d), 1441 and 1446, the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 

and all other applicable bases for removal.  In support of its Notice of Removal, Defendant avers 

as follows: 

I.  STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION: CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT 

1. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332 and 1441, removal to this Court is proper under 

CAFA.  Under CAFA, this Court has jurisdiction over class actions where any member of the 

class is a citizen of a State different from any defendant, and where the aggregate amount in 

controversy exceeds the sum of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and the number of 

members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the aggregate is at least 100 class members.  28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(d)(2)-(6).  CAFA authorizes removal of such actions under 28 U.S.C. § 1446. 

2. As required by 28 U.S.C. § 1441, Defendant seeks to remove this case to the 

United States District Court for the Northern District of California which is the District Court 

embracing the place where the State Court Action has been filed. 

3. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), Defendant will provide contemporaneous 

written notice of this Notice of Removal to all adverse parties and to the Clerk of the State Court. 

4. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(d)(2), and is one which may be removed to this Court by Defendant, because (1) the number 

of members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the aggregate is at least 100 class members; (2) 

there is diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff and Defendant; and (3) the amount-in-

controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 
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5. Plaintiff Laura Lopez (“Plaintiff”) alleges that Defendant misclassified her and 

other salaried putative class members (“PCMs”) as “exempt” from overtime, and thereby failed to 

pay for straight time or overtime compensation for overtime hours, failed to provide meal periods, 

failed to authorize and permit rest periods, and failed to reimburse for ordinary business expenses.  

See First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) [Exh. E], ¶¶ 10-19.  

6. Plaintiff purports to bring this action pursuant to California Code of Civil 

Procedure § 382 as a class action, and seeks certification on behalf of the following PCMs:  

All persons who are or have been employed, at any time from March 14, 2013 
through the date of the Court’s granting of class certification in this matter, by 
Bank of America, National Association in California under the job title Small 
Business Banker or the functional equivalent however titled. 

See FAC [Exh. E], ¶ 20.   

7. Defendant is informed and believes that there has been no service of process upon 

any “Does,” which are fictitious defendants and therefore disregarded for the purpose of this 

removal.  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

8. Defendant is the only defendant in the State Court Action.  As such, there are no 

unserved defendants, and Defendant is the only defendant needed to consent to removal. 

9. 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) (“Section 1446(b)”) provides, in pertinent part: “if the case 

stated by the initial pleading is not removable, a notice of removal may be filed within thirty days 

after receipt by defendant, through service or otherwise, of a copy of an amended pleading, motion 

or other paper from which it may be first ascertained that the case is one which is or has become 

removable.”   

10. Section 1446(b) and applicable case law allow for successive petitions for removal, 

so long as the party files its Notice of Removal within 30 days of discovery of the basis upon 

which the case is or has become removable.  See Mattel v. Bryant, 441 F.Supp.2d 1081, 1089 

(C.D. Cal. 2005) (citing cases); S.W.S. Erectors v. Infax, Inc., 72 F.3d 489, 492-93 (5th Cir. 1996); 

Benson v. SI Handling Systems, et al., 188 F.3d 780, 783 (7th Cir. 1999); Brierly v. Allusuisse 

Flexible Packaging, Inc., 184 F.3d 52 (6th Cir. 1999). 
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11. As set forth further herein, Defendant first became aware of Plaintiff’s claimed 

overtime hours through her response to Defendant’s Special Interrogatory, dated March 19, 2018.  

As a result, Defendant removes this case within 30 days of the discovery of this information that 

demonstrates that this case is removable under CAFA.  

II.   RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY: PREVIOUS REMOVAL AND REMAND 

12. Defendant previously removed this action to federal court.  On March 14, 2017, 

Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Defendant (the “Complaint”) in the State Court, styled as Laura 

Lopez, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. Bank of America, National 

Association and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, Case No. RG17853209 (the “State Court Action”), 

asserting seven causes of action and seeking damages for, inter alia, failure to pay overtime, 

failure to provide and document meal and rest breaks, failure to pay work related expenditures,  

failure to provide accurate wage statements penalties, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

13. On April 26, 2017, Defendant removed the State Court Action to this Court, 

assigned Case No. 17-cv-02383-VC (the “First Removal”).  See Case No. 17-cv-02383-VC, Dkt. 

#1.   

14. In its First Removal, Defendant asserted that the total amount in controversy for 

Plaintiff’s claims asserted in this action, were well over the $5,000,000.00 jurisdictional minimum. 

15. Among the elements of the amount in controversy calculated in Defendant’s First 

Removal was $6,411,524.39 in amount in controversy on Plaintiff’s overtime claim.  Defendant 

calculated this figure based on the following data and assumptions:  

a. $53.17 average regular rate for the PCMs 

b. 2.5 hours of estimated overtime per week 

c. 35,729 total workweeks for the PCMs 

d. 0.9 of total workweeks with overtime hours worked. 

$53.17 x 2.5 x 1.5 x 35,727(0.9) = $6,411,524.39.  See id., pp. 8-9. 

16. On May 4, 2017, Plaintiff filed a motion to remand, arguing that Defendant could 

not show that the amount in controversy exceeded the sum of $5,000,000, as required under 
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CAFA, and that Defendant’s calculations of the amount in controversy were not supported by any 

evidence.  See id., Dkt. #9.  Defendant opposed the motion to remand.  See id., Dkt #12. 

17.   In Plaintiff’s Reply in support of her motion to remand, Plaintiff asserted her own 

estimates and assumption that she conceded were reasonable in calculating the amount in 

controversy for her overtime compensation claims.  Specifically, Plaintiff calculated an alternative 

overtime amount in controversy using the following assumptions she asserted were reasonable: 

a. $28.84 regular rate for Plaintiff, which Plaintiff extrapolates to the PCMs.  

See id., Dkt #13 [Reply], p. 5, n. 3. 

b. 2.0 hours of estimated overtime.  See id., pp. 5-6, n. 4. 

c. 26,374 total active workweeks with overtime worked (0.75 of total 

workweeks).  See id., p. 5.  

18. On July 25, 2017, the Court in the First Removal entered an order remanding this 

action to the State Court, finding that Defendant had failed to meet its burden to establish the 

amount in controversy for CAFA jurisdiction.  See id., Dkt. #23. 

19. The Court granted Plaintiff’s motion, finding that the limited evidence provided by 

the parties made Defendant’s assumptions about the Plaintiff’s overtime claims unreasonable. 

Namely, the Court found that Defendant provided no information to support its assumptions about 

the alleged number of overtime hours worked by Plaintiff or members of the class she purported to 

represent. Furthermore, the Court ruled the allegations in Plaintiff’s Complaint did not support 

Defendant’s assumptions regarding the number of overtime hours worked. The Court also found a 

similar lack of evidence supporting Defendant’s assumption about the other claims asserted in the 

Complaint.  See Dkt. #23, pp. 2-3.  The Court noted that there was no dispute that the number of 

PCMs and minimal diversity requirements for CAFA jurisdiction were satisfied.  See id., p. 1, n. 1. 

20. On October 16, 2017, after remand to the State Court, Plaintiff filed a FAC in the 

State Court Action, in which she asserts claims for failure to pay overtime, failure to provide meal 
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and rest breaks,1 and failure to reimburse for business-related expenses, all under the California 

Unfair Competition Law, Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq. (the “UCL”). See FAC 

[Exh. E], ¶¶ 22-38.  She also amended the definition of the putative class from “Business Bankers” 

to “Small Business Bankers.”  See id., ¶ 20.   

21. In State Court, Defendant served written interrogatories to Plaintiff.  Plaintiff 

provided the first evidence of the amount of hours of overtime she claimed she worked during the 

time period relevant to this action on March 19, 2018, in her responses to Defendant’s Special 

Interrogatory No. 7.  Specifically, Plaintiff stated that “[e]xcepting the time Plaintiff may have 

been absent due to sickness, vacation or holiday, Plaintiff customarily and regularly worked 55 

hours per week on average” Exh. H, p. 3. 

22. The information from Plaintiff’s March 19, 2018 discovery response permits 

Defendant to reasonably calculate the weekly hours that Plaintiff claims, and by extension, the 

hours of the PCMs who Plaintiff claims to be similarly situated to her.  The new information 

regarding Plaintiff’s asserted overtime hours, combined with the estimates and data that Plaintiff 

has previously conceded to be reasonable as to the numbers of PCMs, workweeks, and pay rates, 

allows Defendant to reasonably calculate the amount in controversy and establish that the 

threshold under CAFA is satisfied. 

III. STATUS OF PLEADINGS 

23. True and correct copies of every process, pleading, and order served on Defendant 

in the State Action are attached hereto as the exhibits identified below: 

24. On the same date, Defendant was served with the following documents from the 

State Court Action, true and correct copies of which are attached hereto as follows: 

• Exhibit A:   Summons; 

                                           
1 While the FAC asserts claims for meal and rest break violations through the UCL, the 

State Court held that Plaintiff cannot recover meal and rest period premium pay through her UCL 
claim.  Thus, Defendant does not include these claims in its calculations of the amount in 
controversy.  To the extent Plaintiff asserts that she still can recover meal and rest period premium 
pay through her UCL claim, the amount in controversy obviously increases. 
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• Exhibit B: Complaint; 

• Exhibit C: Civil Case Cover Sheet 

• Exhibit D: Notice of Hearing regarding Complex Case Determination 

• Exhibit E: First Amended Complaint 

25. Defendant also attaches as Exhibits F and G, respectively, a true and correct copy 

of the Order Setting a Hearing regarding Complex Case Determination, dated May 9, 2017, and 

the Order Affirming Tentative Ruling regarding Complex Case Determination, dated September 

19, 2017, which were served on Defendant in the State Court Action. 

26. Defendant is informed and believes that the aforementioned documents and 

exhibits constitute all of the process, pleadings, and orders that have been served on Defendant in 

the State Court Action.  

27. In addition, Defendant attaches as Exhibit H, a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s 

Responses to Defendant Bank of America, N.A.’s Special Interrogatories, Set One, dated March 

19, 2018. 

IV. CAFA JURISDICTION IS SATISFIED 

Citizenship of Parties 

28. Plaintiff’s Citizenship.  Defendant is informed and believes and thereupon alleges 

that, at the time that the State Court Action was filed and at the time that this Notice of Removal is 

filed, Plaintiff is a resident and citizen of the State of California and has the intent to remain in 

California.   See FAC [Exh. E], ¶ 5.  Furthermore, throughout her employment with BANA, 

Plaintiff’s addresses of record were in Los Angeles and Orange counties in the State of California.  

Throughout the potential relevant time period for Plaintiff’s Complaint, Plaintiff worked and 

resided in Orange County, California.  Consequently, Defendant is informed and believes and 

therefore alleges that Plaintiff has the intent to remain in California.  See, e.g., Mondragon v. 

Capital One Auto Finance, 776 F.3d 880 (9th Cir. 2013) (holding that, in connection with removal 

to federal court, a person’s continuing domicile in a state establishes citizenship “unless rebutted 

with sufficient evidence of change”); Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 747, 751-52 (9th Cir. 1986) (holding 

that California was the state of domicile for a party with a California residential address). 
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29. Bank of America, N.A.’s Citizenship.  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1), Bank 

of America is a citizen of the State of North Carolina (the location of its main office).  Bank of 

America, N.A. is a national banking association chartered under the laws of the United States, and 

28 U.S.C. § 1348 (“Section 1348”) governs the citizenship of national banking associations for 

diversity purposes.  Section 1348 provides, in relevant part, that “[a]ll national banking 

associations shall, for the purposes of all other actions by or against them, be deemed citizens of 

the States in which they are respectively located.”  28 U.S.C. § 1348.  For the purpose of diversity 

jurisdiction, a national banking association is “located” only in the state designated in its articles 

of association as its main office, even though it has branch offices in other states.  See Wachovia 

Bank, N.A. v. Schmidt, 546 U.S. 303, 317-18 (2006); U.S. Nat’l Bank v. Hill, 434 F.2d 1019 (9th 

Cir. 1970); American Surety Co. v. Bank of Cal., 133 F.2d 160 (9th Cir. 1943).  Bank of America 

is headquartered in, has its principal place of business in, and is therefore “located” in North 

Carolina.  Its articles of association designate Charlotte, North Carolina, as the location of its main 

office.  Its principal executive offices, including the office of its President, are located in 

Charlotte, North Carolina.  Furthermore, Bank of America’s certificate from the Office of the 

Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) states that it is located in Charlotte, North Carolina, and the 

OCC has issued an Interpretive Letter regarding Bank of America’s North Carolina citizenship for 

purposes of diversity jurisdiction.  In short, under the standard set forth in Wachovia and American 

Surety, Bank of America’s principal place of business is the state of North Carolina.  Further, 

given that Bank of America’s headquarters is in Charlotte, North Carolina, that its officers direct, 

control and coordinate its activities from there, and that the majority of its executive and 

administrative functions are performed there, its state of citizenship is North Carolina, and not 

California, even under the standard set forth in Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 80-81 (2010).   

30. Doe Defendants.  The Amended Complaint also names “DOES 1 through 10” as 

defendants.  For purposes of removal, “the citizenship of defendants sued under fictitious names 

shall be disregarded.”  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).  Therefore, for purposes of removal with jurisdiction 

based on 28 U.S.C. § 1332, the citizenship of all of the “Doe” defendants is to be disregarded. 
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31. Therefore, the diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff (California) and Bank of 

America (North Carolina) establishes sufficient basis for removal of this action under 28 U.S.C. § 

1332. 

Aggregate Membership 

32. According to Plaintiff, the members of the putative class that she purports to 

represent “are numerous and therefore joinder of all the members of the Class is impracticable.”  

See FAC [Exh. E], ¶ 21(a).  Plaintiff also alleges that her claims are typical of the claims of 

putative class members that she seeks to represent.  See id., ¶ 21(c).  Bank of America employed 

approximately 379 individuals in California between March 14, 2013 (the beginning of the 

putative class period alleged by Plaintiff) and December 12, 20162 in the position that Plaintiff 

held as a Small Business Banker.  Thus, the aggregate membership of the proposed class is at least 

100 as required under CAFA.   

Amount in Controversy 

33. The claims of the individual members in a class action are aggregated to determine 

if the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5 million.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).  

In addition, Congress intended for federal jurisdiction to be appropriate under CAFA “if the value 

of the matter in litigation exceeds $5,000,000 either from the viewpoint of the plaintiff or the 

viewpoint of the defendant, and regardless of the type of relief sought (e.g., damages, injunctive 

relief, or declaratory relief).”  Senate Judiciary Committee Report, S. Rep. 109-14, at 42.  

Moreover, the Senate Judiciary Committee’s Report on the final version of CAFA makes clear 

that any doubts regarding the maintenance of class actions in state or federal court should be 

resolved in favor of federal jurisdiction.  S. Rep. 109-14, at 42-43 (“[I]f a federal court is uncertain 

about whether ‘all matters in controversy’ in a purported class action ‘do not in the aggregate 

exceed the sum or value of $5,000,000, the court should err in favor of exercising jurisdiction over 

the case . . . Overall, new section 1332(d) is intended to expand substantially federal court 
                                           

2 For purposes of this removal, Defendant uses the same payroll and personnel data used in 
the First Removal, which was current through December 12, 2016. As such, the amount-in-
controversy estimates in this removal are significantly understated. 
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jurisdiction over class actions.  Its provisions should be read broadly, with a strong preference that 

interstate class actions should be heard in a federal court if properly removed by any defendant.”). 

34. Here, Plaintiff does not allege a specific amount in controversy in the FAC.  Thus, 

the Court must first consider as evidence of the amount in controversy that which is “facially 

apparent” on the Complaint.  See, e.g., Rippee v. Boston Market Corp., 408 F.Supp.2d 982, 984 

(S.D. Cal. 2005).  If it is not, “the court may consider facts in the removal petition as well as 

evidence submitted by the parties, including summary-judgment-type evidence relevant to the 

amount in controversy at the time of removal.” Id (internal quotations omitted). A notice of 

removal may satisfy this burden through plausible allegations, consistent with Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a). 

See Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., LLC v. Owens, 135 S.Ct. 547, 550, 554 (2014). 

Evidentiary submissions are not required unless and until the defendant’s allegations are contested 

by the plaintiff or questioned by the court. Id. at 554. This standard is appropriate even when the 

complaint fails to allege or seek a specific amount of damages.  See Ibarra v. Manheim 

Investments, Inc., 775 F.3d 1193, 1197-97 (9th Cir. 2015).   

35. Plaintiff asserts three causes of action against Defendant, each asserted under the 

UCL, based on her allegations that Defendant had uniform unlawful policies and procedures, 

including: 

a. Unpaid overtime:  that Defendant “has violated California labor law” and “has 

committed an act of unfair competition” by not paying the required overtime pay to the 

Plaintiff and the members of the Class  Exh. E (Amended Complaint) ¶¶ 26-27; 

b. Meal and rest period violations:  that Defendant  “failed to provide and document meal 

and rest period breaks for the class in number, length and manner as required,”  Id. at ¶ 

30, and “has committed an act of unfair competition by not providing meal and rest 

breaks in the number, length, and manner as required by law.” Id. at ¶ 31; and  

c. Unreimbursed business expenses: that Defendant “failed to indemnify or in any manner 

reimburse Plaintiff and the class for [alleged work-related expenses].  Id. at ¶ 36. 

36. Thus, Plaintiff seeks damages, inter alia, for failure to pay overtime, failure to 

provide and document meal and rest breaks, failure to pay work related expenditures, and 

attorneys’ fees and costs.  See generally FAC [Exh. E]. 
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37. While Defendant denies any liability as to Plaintiff’s claims, based on the 

allegations, claims, and prayer for relief set forth in the Complaint and Plaintiff’s own admissions, 

the amount in controversy in this action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the sum of 

$5,000,000.  Defendant’s establishment of the amount-in-controversy, as set forth below, is based 

on assumptions for purposes of removal only as to the amounts that Plaintiff could recover if she 

prevailed on her overtime claim.  Defendant’s calculations include no amounts for Plaintiff’s meal 

and rest period claim because the State Court ruled that Plaintiff could not recover meal and rest 

period payments as restitution under the UCL.  Defendant’s calculations include no amount for 

unreimbursed business expenses because Plaintiff has, to date, provided no information on which 

Defendant could reasonably estimate the amount sought through this claim. 

38. For purposes of this Notice of Removal, Bank of America avers as follows: 

a. From March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, there were 379 individuals who 

worked as exempt Small Business Bankers for Defendant in California and they 

worked 35,166 workweeks. 

b. Between March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, the average hourly rate of 

pay for these 379 employees was $30.82. 

c. Between March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, the average rate of pay 

including non-discretionary bonuses for these 379 employees was $53.17. 

39. Although this data is reasonable, for purposes of this Notice of Removal, 

Defendant uses the lower figures for regular hourly rates and workweeks that Plaintiff previously 

provided and conceded were reasonable, as follows: 

a. Plaintiff and the PCMs earned a regular hourly rate of $28.84; and 

b. Plaintiff and the PCMs actively worked 75% of his or her workweeks, for a 

total of 26,374 active workweeks.  

c. Plaintiff worked an average of 15 hours of overtime during each active 

workweek. 
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40. Overtime Compensation Claim.   Plaintiff’s First Cause of Action alleges that the 

Bank violated California law by not paying required overtime pay to Plaintiff and the PCMs.  See 

FAC [Exh. E.], ¶¶ 22-28.   

41. Accepting for purposes of this Notice of Removal only that each PCM earned an 

average regular rate of $28.84 (the regular rate of pay that Plaintiff asserts was her regular rate and 

more appropriate for extrapolation purposes), that there were 26,374 active workweeks with 

overtime (75% of total workweeks for the PCMs), and worked an average of 5 hours of overtime 

during each active workweek, (which is 10 hours fewer than the number of overtime hours 

Plaintiff asserts that she customarily and regularly worked herself), the total in controversy for 

Plaintiff’s First Cause of Action for alleged unpaid overtime is reasonably estimated to be 

$5,704,696, calculated as follows:  

 $28.84 regular rate x 1.5 overtime premium rate x 5 hours of overtime per week x 

26,374 active workweeks = $5,704,696. 

42. Attorneys’ Fees.  Plaintiff’s Complaint also seeks an award of statutory attorneys’ 

fees.  It is settled in the Ninth Circuit that where attorneys’ fees are authorized by statute, they are 

appropriately part of the calculation of the “amount in controversy” for purposes of removal.  See 

Kroske v. U.S. Bank Corp., 432 F.3d 976, 980 (9th Cir. 2005); Johnson v. America Online, Inc., 

280 F.Supp.2d 1018 (N.D. Cal. 2003); Galt G/S v. JSS Scandinavia, 142 F.3d 1150, 1155-56 (9th 

Cir. 1998) (“where an underlying statute authorizes an award of attorneys’ fees, either with 

mandatory or discretionary language, such fees may be included in the amount in controversy.”).   

The Ninth Circuit has used a benchmark rate of 25% of the potential damage award as an estimate 

for attorneys’ fees.  Applying this benchmark to the potential amounts in controversy on 

Plaintiff’s, the potential amount in controversy related to Plaintiff’s demand for attorneys’ fees is 

calculated as: 

Cause of Action Amount in 
Controversy 

9th Circuit  
Benchmark 

Attorneys’ Fees 

Overtime Compensation Claim $5,704,696 x 25% $1,426,174 
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43. Accordingly, even using an overtime estimate for PCMs that is only 1/3 of the 

overtime claimed by Plaintiff herself, the total amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s claims 

asserted in this action, conservatively estimated, is well over the $5,000,000.00 jurisdictional 

minimum. 

 
Remedies Sought Amount in Controversy 

Overtime Compensation Claim $5,704,696 

Statutory Attorneys’ Fees $1,426,174 

TOTAL AMOUNT IN CONTROVERSY $7,130,870 

 

44. In sum, because there exists diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff and 

Defendant, and because the amount in controversy exceeds CAFA’s $5,000,000.00 jurisdictional 

threshold, Defendant may remove this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) and 1441(b). 

V. VENUE 

45. Venue lies in this Court because Plaintiff’s action is pending in this district and 

division.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

46. Nothing in this Notice of Removal is intended nor should be construed as any type 

of express or implied admission by Defendant of any fact, of the validity or merits of any of 

Plaintiff’s claims, causes of action, and allegations, or of any liability for the same, all of which 

are hereby expressly denied, or as any type of express or implied waiver or limitation of any of 

Defendant’s rights, claims, remedies, and defenses in connection with this action, all of which are 

hereby fully and expressly reserved.  Further, Defendant expressly reserves its right to amend or 

supplement this Notice of Removal and the evidence in support thereof to the fullest extent 

permitted by applicable law. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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WHEREFORE, Defendant requests that the above-captioned action now pending in the 

State Court be removed to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.  

 

Date:  April 18, 2018 MCGUIREWOODS LLP 

 By: /s/ Michael D. Mandel 
 Michael D. Mandel 

John A. Van Hook 
 

 Attorneys for Defendant  
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.  
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.  I am over the age of 
eighteen years and not a party to the within action; my business address is 1800 Century Park 
East, 8th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 

On April 18, 2018, I served the following document described as DEFENDANT BANK 
OF AMERICA, N.A.'s NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF CIVIL ACTION FROM STATE 
COURT on the interested parties in this action by placing true copies thereof enclosed in sealed 
envelopes addressed as follows: 

 
Edward J. Wynne, Esq. 
WYNNE LAW FIRM 

80 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Suite 3G 
Larkspur, CA 94939 

Telephone:  415-461-6400; Facsimile: 415-461-3900 
Email:  ewynne@wynnelawfirm.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  

 
 BY MAIL:  I am “readily familiar” with the firm’s practice of collection and processing 

correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service.  Under that practice, it 
would be deposited with the United States Postal Service that same day in the ordinary 
course of business.  Such envelope(s) were placed for collection and mailing with postage 
thereon fully prepaid at Los Angeles, CA, on that same day following ordinary business 
practices.  (C.C.P. § 1013 (a) and 1013a(3)) 

 BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  I deposited such document(s) in a box or other facility 
regularly maintained by the overnight service carrier, or delivered such document(s) to a 
courier or driver authorized by the overnight service carrier to receive documents, in an 
envelope or package designated by the overnight service carrier with delivery fees paid or 
provided for, addressed to the person(s) served hereunder.  (C.C.P. § 1013(d)(e)) 

 BY PERSONAL SERVICE:  I caused such envelope(s) to be delivered the addressee(s).  
(C.C.P. § 1011) 

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose 
direction the service was made. 

Executed on April 18, 2018, at Los Angeles, CA. 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
Vaneta D. Birtha 
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RISINAL• 
EDWARD I. WYNNE, SBN 165839 
WYNNE.LAWFRM 
Wood Island . . 

80K Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Ste. 30 
Larks7ur, CA 94939 
Telephone: (415) 461-6400 
Facsunilef (415) 461-3900 
ewynnewynnc1awfinn.com . 

Attorneys for Plaintiffand the putative class 

S •I4S9917- 

FILED 
ALAMEDA COUNTY 

lIAR 142017 
a

ly  

ERgop SUPERIOR COURT. 

- 

• IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNLI 

AL4MEDA COUNTY • ••• . - 

IAURALOPEZthdMduallyanddhbehalfofall &ieN RG 1 Z.85 32 0 0. 
oths similarly situated, . 

. .. 
. 

. 
- r - -. • 

COMPLAINT FOR: 
(1) Overtime Compensation (Labor Code fi 

V. 510,1194) 
(2)Ovefllmetbmpensadon (Bus. & Prof. 

BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL Code § 17200); 
ASSOCIATION and DOES 1 through 10, 

. Meal aid Rest Period Violations (Labor 
inclusive, 

.. 
. Code § 226.7,512) 

j) fei C 
Meal and Rest Period Violations (Bus. & 

Prof. Code § 17200) -. 

• UnreImbursed Business Expenses (Labor 

• 
..

... 

Code's 2802) 
. . - • ® Unlau! Wage Sbtemçn (Labor Code 

- 

j226,1174)  

-. .. - • (7) WaIting Time Penalties(Labor Code § 
203) 

[CJASS ACTION] 

CLASS ACTION 

Exhibit B

Exhibit B

Case 3:18-cv-02346-JSC   Document 1-2   Filed 04/18/18   Page 1 of 12



S . . 

Pistil! Laura Lopez, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, complains 

allejes as follows: 

A. INTRODUCTION 

This is a class action, under California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, 

damages, restitution, declaratory relict: equitable relief, penalties, and reasonable attorneys' fees i 

costs, on behAlf of Plaintiff and all other individuals who are or have been employed as BuS 

Bankers by Defendant Bank of America, Natidnal Association (hereafter "Bank of America" 

"Defendant"), in California during the four years prior to the filing of this action. Laura Lopez brii 

this complaint on behalf of similarly situated Business Bankers who were (a) not paid overti 

cornpnsation; (1,) not provided meal and rest breaks; (c) not reimbursed for ordinary buS 

sA'(d) 'not provided lffil wage 'statements, and (d) not timely and properly, paid all U 

wages.at  time of separation. 

The "Class Perid" is designated as the period from four years prior to the filing of I 

Complaint' through the time the Court certifies this we as a 'clgss action. The 'violations 

'Ca)ifornia's wage and' hour lats, as dec1ed more fully below, have been ongoiiig for at least 

yeaz?pñr tó'.the filing:of  this action, 'are continuing'at fresent,vand will"continue'unless and 

àjoinedby the Court 

B. JuwsDIcrION AND VENUE.• 

This Court has jurisdiction over the claims brought under the Califonia Labor 

and California's Unfair Competion Law, Business & Professions COde § 17200 at seq. 

Venue as to Dfendant is proper in Alameda County, pursuant to 
1
Code of Ci' 

Procedure §4 395, 395.5. Bank of America is a foreign corporationthat has not designated a princi; 

business office in California according to its latest Statement of Information (Foreign Corporation) 

file with the California Secretary of State. Defendant maintains branches, facilities and offices frc 

which Defendant ttansacts business in a variety of locations in Alameda County. and Defendant 

otherwise within this Court's jurisdiction for purposes of service of process. The unlawtlll  acts alleg 

herein have a direct effect on Plaintiff and those similarly situated within the State of California a 

within Alameda County. Defendant has employed Class Members in Alameda County, who have al 
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incurred uzfreimbursed business expenses while conducting Defendant's business in Alameda 

in the State of California during the Class PenS. •• 

C. PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Laura Lopez resides in Orange County, California. Plaintiff was employed b 

Defendant during the statutory period covered by this action. During the Class Period, she worked 

w Business Banker for Defendant in Or?nge County. During this time, Plaintiff was subject I 

Defendant's unlawful policies and#'or practices set forth)ierein. •- - 

6;. -Defendant Bank of America, National4ssociqtion is•.a Delaware Corporation with-il 

principaiplace ofbusinessin.Chariotte, North Carolina. 

7. The true names an&cap eotpersonior entities, whether inidvidual, porporat 

associate..ot.otherwise, sued li"n 11 DOES 1 through 10, inclusiy; are ciurent* unknown I 

Plaintiff1  who therefore sue Defendath by such fictitious names under Code.-of Civil Procedure 147,  

Plaintiff is-informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that each of the Defendnts.designate 

-herein- as a. DOEls legally iesponiible. @:thd manner for the unlawful- acts referred to .hereii 

Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to reflect the true names and capacitiet 

the Defendants designated hereinafter as DOES when such jdentities become-known. 

8:.. All of Plaintiff's claims stated herein are asserted again$ Defçndant and any of i 

owneis predecàsons, successors, subsidiaries, and/or assigns. 
. . 

• D. FACTUAL BACKGROUND . 

:-- Pursuant to California Labor Code if 218, 218.6, and 1194, Plaintiff may bring abi 

action for overtime wages directly against the employer without.first filing a clan with the Californ 

Division of Labor Standards Enforcement and may recover such wage; together with interest thereo 

penalties, attorney fees and costs. 

Plaintiff and all members of the class identified herein were regularly scheduled as 

matter of uniform company policy and practice to work and in fact worked as salaried ban 

employees in excess of eight hours per workday and/or in excess of forty hours per workweek witho 

rceiving straight  time or overtime compensation for-such overtime hours worked in violation 

California Labor Code ft 510, 1194 and California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order 

I .  

--"-I-. 

I 

CLASS ACflON COMPLAINT 
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2001. Defendant has. failed to meet the requirements for .establishing an exemption from th 

requirements because all class members (a) regularly spent more thari 500/6 of their time perfonni 

nonexempt work, (b) did not customarily and regularly exercise discretion and independent judm 

on matters of significance, (c) did not have the authority to hire or fire or make meaning 

recommendations regarding same, (d) did not customarily and regularly supervise at least t 

employees or the equivalent, (e) did not perform work directly related to the management policies 

the general business operations of Defendant or Defendant's customers, (f) did perform nonexen 

production and/or sales work a majority of their time (i.e., in excess of 50%) consistent w 

Defendant's realistic expectations, (g) did not customarily and regularly spend more than 50% of th 

timeaway from the Defendant's places of business selling or obtaining orders or contracts, and (h) 

'not earn more than 50% of their compelation in a bona fide commission plan. Thus, Plaintiff and I 

class members were not exempt from the overtime requirements of California law for these  reasons. 

11. Defendant failed to provide and document uninterrupted off-duty meal breaks of 

least 30 minutes for the class in the number, length and manner as required. Defendant has failed 

authorize and permit rest breaks for the class in the number, length and manneras required. At 

16 ' timehkthePlaintiff or the class. enteied intoany written .ageementzwithWefendant.txpressly oil 

• impliedly waiving their right to tbeirmea! or rest breaks Plaintiff and the class were injured  by 

18 Defendant's feilure to provide meal and rest breaks. . . . . 

. 

19 12. Defendant willflul)y, intentionally and knowingly did not provide Plaintiff and all 

20 members of the class with accurate itemiied statements showing all of the information required 

21' pursuant to Labor Code §§ 226 and 1174S Plaintiff and other members of the class were injuredj 

22 thereby. 
it 

23 13. Defendant has maintained company-wide policies indr practices that require d 

24 members to pay the ordinary business expenses of Defendant without reimbursement For examç 

25 Business Bankers are forced to bear the costs of travel, parking, mileage, and. tolls withi 

26 reimbursement by Defendant. Moreover, Defendant's policy Sand practice of having class memb; 

27 pay for Defendant's ordinary business expenses also causes class members to forfeit their wages 

28 Defendant. 
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14. Plaintiff and other formerly employed class members were not timely and properly 

pid all of their wages at time of termination. Plaintiff and other class members did not absent ox 

secret themselves Sm timely and properly receiving their final wages at time of termination 

E. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

IS.- Plaintiff brings this action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, as a 

class action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 382. The class,-and subclasses, that Plaintiff seeks 

to represent is composed of and debned as frllows: 

All persons who are or have been. employed, at any time from four years prior to 

the filing of this Complaint through the date otth&Court's granting of class 

certification in this -matter, b,. Bank of America, National Association in 

California under the .job title Business Banker or the. functional equivalent-

however titled.  

16. This action has been brought and may properlybe maintained as a class action under 

Code of Civil Procedure § 382 because there is a well-defined communily of interest in the litigafion 

the propos.ed class-is easily ascertainable, and Plaintiff is a proper representative of the class and 

subclasses:  

-•-- a. Numerosity: The potential members of the class as defined are numerous and 

therefore joinder of alithe members of the Class is imptacticable.. 

b. Commonality Thde are questions of law and-fact conunon to Plaintiff and the 

• class that predominate over any questions acting only individual members of the class. 

These common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to, the f011owing 

- (i) Whether Defendaiit's policy of claisifying all Business Bankers as 

exempt is legal under California law; 

Whether Defendant's policy of hot providing meal periods is legal 

under California law; 

Whether Defundant's policy of not making rest periods available a 

- legal under CalifOrnia law; - 

(v) Whether Defendant's policy of not paying for ordinary busines 

cLASS ACTION CO)OLAINT. 
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1 expthses is legal under California law; and, 

2 (vi) Whether Defendant's wage statements violate California law. 

3 C. Typicality: Plaintiffs claims are typical of the clajms of the class. 

4 other Business Bankers sustained ihjuries and damages, and were deprived of property ugh 

S belonging to them, arising out of and caused by befendant's common couise of conduct 

6 violation of law as alleged herein, in simiW ways and for the same types of expenses. 

7 it. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff is a member of the class. and will bk 

S and ade4uately represent-and protect the interests-of the class. Plaintiff's interests do i 

9 conflict with those of other class picinbers. counsa who represent Plaintiff ar competent a 

10 experienced in litigatingiarge wage and houtclass actionk and will devote sufficient time 

'11 '. resources to-the ca ta4othezwise adequately represent the class. 

12 e. Superio%y. of Class Action: A class actibtis superior to other available m 

13 for the-fair and cfficint adjudicatio,n.of.this controversy. Individual joinder, of all Busii 

14 Bankers is not practicable, and questions of law and fact common' to the class ptedomi 

• - over n -questons• affecting -only- individual members of the class. Each class member has 

- 'beendamaged or may be-datiiaged in: thefuturtby reason' of Defendantts. Unlawful policies 
I 

• 'and/or practices as alleged'here'in. Certification of this case 'as a class action thll alldw those 

similirly situated Ørsons to litigate their claims, in the manner,that is most efficient and 

economical for the parties and the.judicial systeni Certifying this case as £class action'is 

superior because Plaink seeks relief that will affect all Business Bankers in a common way, 

and will also allow fbt'efficient and' full disgorgement ofthe ill:gottcn gaini Defendant has 

enjoyed by maintaibing its unlawful business policies and practices, and will thereby 

effectuate California's strong public policy of protecting employees from deprivation or 

offsetting'of compensation earned in their employment If this action is not certified as a Class 

Action, it will be impossible as a practical matter for many or most Business Banliers to brinl 

individual actions to recover monies unlawfully withheld from their lawful compensation duc 

from Defendant due to the relatively small amounts of suchindividual recoveries relative Ic 

the costs, burdens, and risks of litigation. 

5 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME COMPENSATION 

(Labor Code §§ 510, 1194) 

Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of thi 

complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

California Wage Order 42001,8 C.C.R. § 11040, and Labor Code § 510 state that aj 

employee must be paid overtime, e4ual to 1c5.ti,nes the employee's regular rate of pay, for all hour 

wed in excess of 40 per week day. 

- 

19. Class members flgularly work more tha& 40 hours per week and/or 8 hours per day 

are not paid overtime. .. . - . .. 

.20. - Class members do not meet any of the-tests for exempt -status-under theCa1ifori 

Wage Orderiand/or the California Labor Code. . 

Defendant has violated California labor law-by not paying the required overtime pay 

Plaintiff and the members of the Class: . 

Pursuant to Labor Code § 218.6, Plaintiff requests prejudWnent interest on all wage 

from the date the wages were due and payable. 

Pursuant to California Labor Code - 218.5 and 1194, Plaintiff requests an Sc if  

•requiring Defendaât to pay damages-of all overtime wages-due to them and the members of the clas 

in an amount to be proved at hearihg as well as attorneys' fees and costs.- 

- SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

- flILURE TO PAY OVERTIME COMPENSATION 

(Bus.& Prof. Code I72O3) 

• 24. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of th 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

25. California Labor Code § 510 and Wage Order 4-2001, 8 C.CS. § 11040, state that a 

employee must be paid overtime, equal to 1.5 times the employee's regular rate of pay, for all how 

worked in excess of 40 per week or 8 per day. Plaintiff and the class are not "exempt" because into  

alia, they did not and do not perform work directly related to the management or general buSe 
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S 
operations of either Defenaant or Defendant's custorners they are/were primarily engaged in 

and sales related activities, and they did not and do not spend a inajori& of theW time oni 

tasks. 

Defendant has committed an act of unfair competition by not paying the requi 

overtime pay to Plaintiff and the class. . . 

Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff requests 

order requiiing Defendant to make restitution of all Overtime wages due to them and the members 

the class in an amount to be proved at hearilit an injunction and declaratory relief to enjo 

Defendant from such contactin the fizthr treasonable attorneys' fees and costspd CCP § 1021J 

THIRD CAUSEOF ACTION. 

MEAL AND REST BREAK VIOLATIONS 

(Labor- Co4e.512 and IWC Order 4.2001)- 

-28. . Plaintiff incorporates the iliegations contained in the -previous paragraphs of th 

Complaint as if hilly set forth herein. . .- .-. . 
. 

.29. In violation of Libor Code §: 512 and IWC Wage oraer 4-2001, DefendSt failed I 

proVide-and document:.meaFand.rest.period..breaks for the ólass if the.number,;Lçngth and mnner;i 

-required. At no time has the Plaintiff 6r the class entered into anywritten.agreement with Defendai 

ekpresly or impliedly waiving their right to their meal and rest breaks.. Plaintiff and the class ha 

been inJured  by Defendant's failure to comply with Labor Code § 512 .andiWC Wage Order 4-20C 

and axe thus entitled to the wages set forth iirLabor Code § 226.7.  

- 
FOURTR CAUSE OF ACTION - 

MEAL AND REST BREAK VIOLATIONS - -. 

(Ba& Prof. Codi17203)  

•30. - Plaintiff.incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of th 

Complaint as if hilly set forth herein: - 

31. In violation of Labor Code § 512 and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, Defendant ihiled I 

provide and document meal and rest period breaks for the class in the numbeç length and manner 

required. At no time has-the Plaintiff or the class entered into any written agreement with Defenda 

•1 

2 

3 .  

4 

.5 

6 

7. 

8 
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11 

12 
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14-

.15 
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17 

18 
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20 
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25  

expressly or impliedly waiving their right to their meal and rest breaks. Plaintiff and the class I 

been injured-by Defendant's failure to comply. with Labor Code § 512 and IWC Wage Order 44 

and are thus entitled to the wages wt forth in Labor Code § 226.7. 

Defendant has committed an act of unfair competition by not providing meal and 

breaks in the number, length and manner as required by law.- 

Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff requests 

order-requiring Defendant to make restitution of all wages due to them and the members of the ci 

in an. amount to be proved at hearing, an iiunction and declaratory relief to enjoin Defendant ft 

such contact in the future, and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs per CCP § 1021.5. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO REIMBURSE BUSINESS EXPENSES 
I, 

(Labor Code § 2802) 

Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of I 

Complaint as if billy set fqrth herein. 

.35.. -- Labor Code § 2802 provides that "[a)n employer shall indemnify liii or her emplo: 

fbi -all .necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence of 

discharge of his or her duties." 

• - 36, . - While discharging their duties for Defendant Plthntiff and the class have incur 

worbrelated expenses. Such expenses include but are not limited to bavel, parking, mileage, i 

tolls charges. 

- - 37. Defendant has failed to indemnify or in any manner reimburse Plaintiff and the ci 

for these expenditures and losses. By requiring th?se employees to pay expenses and cover losses I 

they incurred in direct consequence of the discharge pf their duties for Defendant and/or in obedie 

of Defendant's direction or expectations, Defendant has violated and continues to violate Labor C 

§2802: 

26 38. By unlawfully failing to indemnify Plaintiff and the class, Defendant is liable fa 

27 reasonable attorneys' fees and costs under Labor Code § 2802(c). 

28 39. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's conduct, Plaintiff and the class bavi 

8 - 
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S ED 
according to proof: as well as pre-judgment interest, costs, and 

fees for the prosecut on of this action. 

3 
. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACtION 

.4 UNLAWFUL WAGE STATEMENTS 

5 . . (Labor Code § 22(4 1174, and 1174.5) 

6 40. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations containEd in the previous paragraphs of thi 

7 Complaint as if fully set kr11 herein..  

8.. . 41. Defendant, as a matter of corporatt policy did not-maintain or provkfe accuraft 

9 itemized wage statements in violation of Labor Code §§ 226 and 1174.  

10. 42. Defendant did not state or did not accurately State, üugr alia;tbe wages earned in th 

. 1.1.. pay period or the actual hourly rate of Plaintiff and other BiSiness Bankers. Defendant's failure tc 

12 maintain accurate itemized vage statements was willful, knowing, intentional, and the result ol 

13'S .Dcfendants.custom, habit, pattern and practice. Defendant's failure to maintain accurate itemiz& 

.14 .wage.statemeniswas not the result of isolated, sporadic or unintentional behavior. Due 'to Defendant' 

15 'failure to'comply with.the requirements of-Labor Code §§ 226 and 1174, Plaintiff and other Business 

16 Bankerawere injured thereby. 

17 43. Such a pattern and practice as alleged herein is unlawful and creates an entitlement ti 

.18 recovey by Plaintiff and Business Bankers.identified herein for all damages.and penalties pursuant Ic 

19 - LaborCode §J 226 and 1174.5, including interest-thereon, penalties, attorneys Sees and cotta: 
I .. 

20 SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACtION 

21 - FAILURE TO PAY WAGES AT TERMINATION 
-6 

22  (Labor Code fi 201-203) 

23 44. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of thi 

24 Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

25 45. Labor Code § 201 provides: "If an employer discharges an employee, the wages earnS 

26, and unpaid at the time of discharge art due and payable immediately." 

27 46. Labor Code 1 202 provides: "If an employee not having a written contract for 

28 definite !enod  quits his or her employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not late 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAnir 
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S ••" S 
than 72 hours thereafter, unless the employee has given 72 hours previous notice of his or 

intention to quit, in which case the employee is entitled to hii or her wages at the time of quitting." 

Labor Code4203 j,rovides: "If an employer wilifiullytils to pay, without abateni 

or reduction, n accordance with Sections 201, 201.3, 201.5, 202, and 2053, any wages of 

employee • who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the employee shall continue as apenalty ft 

the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an action therefor is commenced; but the Wa, 

shall iot•continue for more than 30 days.'!: . 

. -Plaintiff and otheriormerly employed Business Bankersin:the Waiting Time PenaL 

subclass'were discharged by Defendant or-voluntarily quit. Defendant, in .violation of califbr 

LaborCode ff-201 and 202, has a consistent and unifonn policy, practit* and-procedure of willfi 

failing to timely, pay the wages to its former empIoees. .Plaintiff aild. othei formdly emplol.  
I' 

Business Bankers did not seet or absent themselves from Defendant nor refuse to accept the can 

and unpaid wages from Defendant. . 

. As a result of Defendant's violations of Labor Code § 201-202, Defendant is liabh 

for waitingtime penalties to Plaintiff and the members of the Waiting Time Penalties sybclass. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF .. -. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests the following relieft 

For an Order certifying the proposed class and designating this action as a clas 

action pursutto'CCP § 382;- -. .. . 

Fora dedlaratory and injunctive relief; 

For an Order appointing Plaintiff and his c unsel to represent the proposec 

class as defined in ihis Complaint; 

, 
For compensatory damages according to proof 

For an order requiling Defendant to provide an accounting of all wages and at 

sums unlawfully charged back and withheld from compensation due to Plaintif 

and the other members of the proposed class; 

For interest according to proof; 

For penalties alleged herein; 

CLASS ACTION CO?OLAINT 
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I 

S. S 

I 

.3 

4 

.5 

6 

7. 

8 

9 

10 

8. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs;, Sd 

. For such other relief the Court deems just and propet 

DATED: March10, 2017 .. . . WYNNELAWFIRM 

—f Ich-3 
By'. Edward J. Wynne 

- - Attorneys for Plaintiff Laura Lopez, individually 
and on behalf of all others similar situated 

1-: 
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Wynne Law Finn 1 r Bank of America, National Association 1 
Ann: Wynne Esq, Edward I. 
80 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd 
Suite3G 
Larkspur, CA 94939. . .i L .1 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda. 
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Lopez . No. R017853209 
PlaintifllPetitionei(s) 

Bank of America, National Association 
NOTICE OF HEARING 

 
Defendant/Respondent(s) 

(Abbreviated Title) -- 

To each party or to the attorney(s) of record for each party herein: 

Notice is hereby given that the above-entitled action has been set for: 
Complex Determination Hearing 
Case Management Conference 

You are hereby notified to appear at the fbllowing Court location on the date and 
time noted below: 

Complex Determination Hearing: 
DATE: 05/09/2017 TIME: 03:00 PM DEPARTMENT: 30 
LOCATION: U.S. Post Office Building, Second Floor 

201 13th Street, Oakland 

Case Management Conference: 
DATE: 06/16/2017 TIME: 09:16 AM DEPARTMENT: 30 
LOCATION: U.S. Post Office Building, Second Floor 

201 13th Street, Oakland 

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 3.400 et seq. and Local Rule 3.250 (Unified Rules of 
the Superior Court, County of Alameda), the above-entitled matter is set for a Complex Litigation 
Determination Hearing and Initial Complex Case Management Conference. 

Department 30 issues tentative rulings on DomainWeb (www.alameda.eourts.ca.goWdomainweb). 
For parties lacking access to DomainWeb, the tentative ruling must be obtained fronithe cleilc at 
(510) 268-5104. Please consult Rule 3.30(c) of the Unified Rules of the Superior Court, County of 
Alameda, concerning the tentative ruling procedures for Department 30. 

Counsel or party requesting complex litigation designation is ordered to serve a copy of this notice 
on all parties omitted from this notice or brought into the action after this notice was mailed. 

All counsel of record and any unrepresented parties are ordered to attend this Initial Complex Case 
Management Conference unless otherwise notified by the Court. 

Failure to appear, comply with local rules or provide a Case Management Conference statement 
may result in sanctions. Case Management Statements may be filed by E-Delivery, by submitting 
directly to the E-Delivery Fax Number (510) 267-5732. No fee is charged for this service. For 
further information, go to Direct Calendar Departments at 

Exhibit D

Exhibit D

Case 3:18-cv-02346-JSC   Document 1-4   Filed 04/18/18   Page 1 of 2



http://apps.alameda.courts.ca.gov/domainweb.  

All motions in this matter to be heard prior to Complex Litigation Determination Hearing must be 
scheduled for hearing in Department 30. 

If the information contained in this notice requires change or clarification, please contact the 
courtroom clerk for Department 30 by e-mail at Dept.30©alazneda.courts.ca.gov  or by phone at 
(510) 268-5104. 

TELEPHONIC COURT APPEARANCES at Case Manigement Conferences may be available by 
contacting CourtCall, an independent vendor, at least 3 business dayiprior to the scheduled 

conference. Parties can make arrangements by calling (888) 882-6878, or faxing a service request 

form to (888) 883-2946. This serviceis subject to charges by the vendor. 

Dated: 03/22/2017 Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk Of the Superior Court 

By  

Deputy Clerk 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 
I certil' that the following is true and correct: I am the clerk of the above-named court and not a party to 
this cause. I served this Notice by placing copies in envelopes addressed as shown hereon and then by 
sealing and placing than for collection, stamping dir metering with prepaid postage, and mailing on the date 
stated belo% in the United States mail at Alameda County, California, following standard court practices. 

Executed on 03/23/2017. 
dpd 

By  

Deputy Clerk 
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1 EDWARD J. WYNNE, SEN 165819 
WYNNE LAW FIRM 
Wood Island 
80 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Ste. 3G 
Larkspur, OA 94939 
Telephone; (415) 461-6400 
Facsimile: (415) 461-3900 

iiWDtHiSED 
FILED 

ALAWr** -'•'ATTMTY 

OCT 1 6 
CIEHK Df iiii.voutivKiUHCOURT 

2 

3 

4 
ewynne@wynnelawfirm.com 

Attorneys forPlaintiffand theputative class 
6 

7 

8 IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 

ALAMEDA COUNTY 9 

10 LAURA LOPEZ, individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 

Case No. RG 17853209 
11 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR: 
(1) Overtime Compensation (Bus. & Prof. 
Code §17200); 
(2) Meal and Rest Period Violations (Bus, & 
Prof. Code § 17200) 
(3) Unreimbursed Business Expenses (Bus. & 
Profs Code § 17200) 

Plaintiff, 12 
v. 13 

BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION and DOES 1 through 10, 
inclusive. 

14 

15 
Defendants. 16 [CLASS ACTION) 

Complaint filed March 14,2017 

Assigned for all purposes to 
Hon. Brad Seligman 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

is 27 

I 
i 

I 

28 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
RG 17853209 
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Plaintiff Laura Lopez, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, complains and 

alleges as follows: 

1 

2 

3 A. INTRODUCTION 

This is a class action, under California Code of Civil Procedure § 382, seeking 

restitution, declaratory relief, equitable relief, and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, on behalf of 

Plaintiff and all other individuals who are or have been employed as Small Business Bankers by 

Defendant Bank of America, National Association (hereafter "Bank of America," "Bank," or 

"Defendant"), in California from March 14, 2013 to the time this case is certified as a class action. 

Laura Lopez brings this complaint on behalf of similarly situated Small Business Bankers who were 

(a) not paid overtime compensation; (b) not provided meal and rest breaks; and (c) not reimbursed for 

ordinary business expenses. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

The "Class Period" is designated as the period from March 14, 2013 through the time 

the Court certifies this case as a class action. The violations of California's wage and hour laws, as 

described more fully below, have been ongoing for at least four years prior to the filing of this action, 

are continuing at present, and will continue unless and until enjoined by the Court. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

B. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 16 

This Court has jurisdiction over the claims brought under the California Labor Code 

and California's Unfair Competition Law, Business & Professions Code § 17200 etseq. 

Venue as to Defendant is proper in Alameda County, pursuant to Code of Civil 

Procedure §§ 395, 395.5. Bank of America is a foreign corporation that has not designated a principal 

business office in California according to its latest Statement of Information (Foreign Corporation) on 

file with the California Secretary of State. Defendant maintains branches, facilities and offices from 

which Defendant transacts business in a variety of locations in Alameda County, and Defendant is 

otherwise within this Court's jurisdiction for purposes of service of process. The unlawful acts alleged 

herein have a direct effect on Plaintiff and those similarly situated within the State of California and 

within Alameda County. Defendant has employed Class Members in Alameda County, who have also 

incurred unreimbursed business expenses while conducting Defendant's business in Alameda County j 

17 3. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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in the State of California during the Class Period. 1 

C. PARTIES 2 

5. Plaintiff Laura Lopez resides in Orange County, California. Plaintiff was employed by 

Defendant during the statutory period covered by this action. During the Class Period, she worked as 

a Small Business Banker for Defendant in Orange County. During this time, Plaintiff was subject to 

Defendant's unlawful policies and/or practices set forth herein. 

6. Defendant Bank of America, National Association is a Delaware Corporation with its 

principal place of business in Charlotte, North Carolina. 

7. The true names and capacities of persons or entities, whether individual, corporate, 

associate, or otherwise, sued herein as DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, are currently unknown to 

Plaintiff, who therefore sue Defendant by such fictitious names under Code of Civil Procedure § 474. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that each of the Defendants designated 

herein as a DOE is legally responsible in some manner for the unlawful acts referred to herein. 

Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to reflect the true names and capacities of 

the Defendants designated hereinafter as DOES when such identities become known. 

8. All of Plaintiffs claims stated herein are asserted against Defendant and any of its 

owners, predecessors, successors, subsidiaries, and/or assigns. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

D. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 18 

9. Pursuant to California Labor Code §§ 218, 218.6, and 1194, Plaintiff may bring a civil 

action for overtime wages directly against the employer without first filing a claim with the California 

Division of Labor Standards Enforcement and may recover such wages, together with interest thereon, 

penalties, attorney fees and costs. 

10. Plaintiff and all members of the class identified herein were regularly scheduled as a 

matter of unifonn company policy and practice to work and in fact worked as salaried bank 

employees in excess of eight hours per workday and/or in excess of forty hours per workweek without 

receiving straight time or overtime compensation for such overtime hours worked in violation of 

California Labor Code §§ 510, 1194 and California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order 4-

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 2001. 

11. Plaintiff and all members of the class were expected to be and were primarily engaged 

in sales and sales-related activities such as prospecting for new business and closing sales. Plaintiff 

and the class prospected for new business by cold calling from lead lists, sending out flyers, emails 

and other correspondence to potential customers. Plaintiff and the class sought referrals from other 

Bank employees and referral sources from outside of the Bank. Plaintiff and the class solicited 

business from existing Bank customers in an attempt to up-sell and cross-sell bank customers with 

additional banking products and services. Plaintiff and the class had customer meetings for the 

purposes of soliciting new business and concluding existing deals. Plaintiff and the class were 

instructed and trained on various sales techniques. Plaintiff and the class were ranked, rewarded and 

disciplined based on the sales production. The sales efforts of Plaintiff and the class were tracked and 

monitored by their supervisors. 

12. Plaintiff and the class spent most of their time physically inside Bank branches and 

offices consistent with the Bank's realistic expectations. Plaintiff and other class members were 

domiciled in a specific branch and expected to cover other banking centers in order to engage in sales 

efforts at the other branches. Plaintiff and the class were expected to attend daily huddles with Bank 

staff. Plaintiff and the class responded to emails, telephone messages and correspondence from the 

branch. Plaintiff and the class were expected to meet with their Sales Manager at the Sales Manager's 

office and participate in other company meetings at Bank locations. Plaintiff and the class attended 

training sessions at Bank locations. Plaintiff and the class met with customers at the Bank. Plaintiff 

and the class used their computers, telephones, branch copiers and other business machines at the 

branch. Plaintiff and the class received correspondence and documents from customers and packaged 

loans at the branch. Plaintiff and the class reviewed customer files at the branch. Plaintiff and the class 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

communicated with underwriting and other Bank personnel at the branch. Plaintiff and the class filled 

out paperwork and tracked their sales activities at the branch. 

13. Plaintiff and the class did not supervise anyone and no one reported to them. They did 

not have any hiring or firing responsibilities or formally review any employee's performance. 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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14. Plaintiff and the class did not advise the management of Bank or the customers of the 

Bank on how they should run their businesses, plan their objectives, negotiate the salary or benefits of 

other employees, or represent the Bank or its customers in purchasing anything. 

15. Plaintiff and the class did not serve as financial advisors for the Bank. They were not 

required to hold any security licenses in order to perform the job of a Small Business Banker. They 

were not authorized to sell customers products without their express knowledge and consent. They did 

not sell any type of securities like stocks, bonds, or mutual funds or provide any advice on such 

products. They did not sell or provide any tax or estate planning advice or services. Plaintiff and the 

class did not underwrite or approve loans. 

16. Plaintiff and the class did not earn more in incentive pay than in salary. The incentive 

pay they earned was not based on the amount or value of the products and services sold. Plaintiff and 

the class did not always or almost always make more in incentive pay than in base salary. 

17. Defendant has failed to meet the requirements for establishing an exemption fi'om 

these requirements because all class members (a) regularly spent more than 50% of their time 

performing nonexempt work, (b) did not customarily and regularly exercise discretion and 

independent judgment on matters of significance, (c) did not have the authority to hire or fire or make 

meaningful recommendations regarding same, (d) did not customarily and regularly supervise at least 

two employees or the equivalent, (e) did not perform work directly related to the management policies 

or the general business operations of Defendant or Defendant's customers, (f) did perform nonexempt 

production and/or sales work a majority of their time (i.e., in excess of 50%) consistent with 

Defendant's realistic expectations, (g) did not customarily and regularly spend more than 50% of their 

time away from the Defendant's places of business selling or obtaining orders or contracts, and (h) did J 
not earn more than 50% of their compensation in a bona fide commission plan. Thus, Plaintiff and the 

class members were not exempt from the overtime requirements of California law for these reasons. 

18. Defendant failed to provide and document uninterrupted off-duty meal breaks of at 

least 30 minutes for the class in the number, length and manner as required. Defendant has failed to 

authorize and permit rest breaks for the class in the number, length and manner as required. Defendant 
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required Plaintiff and the class to be available for work at all times and Plaintiff and the class were 

expected to answer telephone calls at all times. Defendant customarily and regularly scheduled 

mandatory meetings during lunchtime. At no time has the Plaintiff or the class entered into any 

written agreement with Defendant expressly or impliedly waiving their right to their meal or rest 

breaks. Plaintiff and the class were injured by Defendant's failure to provide meal and rest breaks. 

19. Defendant has maintained company-wide policies and/or practices that require class 

members to pay the ordinary business expenses of Defendant without reimbursement. Small Business 

Bankers were instructed to and expected to use their personal vehicles for work-related travel. As 

such, Plaintiff and the class incurred the costs of mileage, parking, and tolls. However, Defendant had 

a policy of refusing to reimburse Plaintiff and the class for their reasonable and necessary business 

expenses and/or failed to take all reasonable steps to ensure that Plaintiff and the class were 

reimbursed for their business-related expenses. Defendant's policy and practice of having class 

members pay for Defendant's ordinary business expenses caused class members to forfeit their wages 

to Defendant. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 E. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

20. Plaintiff brings this action, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, as a 

class action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 382. The class, and subclasses, that Plaintiff seeks 

to represent is composed of and defined as follows: 

All persons who are or have been employed, at any time from March 14, 2013 

through the date of the Court's granting of class certification in this matter, by 

Bank of America, National Association in California under the job title Small 

Business Banker or the functional equivalent however titled. 

21. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class action under 

Code of Civil Procedure § 382 because there is a well-defined community of interest in the litigation, 

the proposed class is easily ascertainable, and Plaintiff is a proper representative of the class and 

subclasses: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Numerosity: Plaintiff is infonned and believes and based thereon alleges that 27 a. 

28 
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there are approximately 400 individuals potentially covered by this action. The potential 

members of the class as defined are numerous and therefore joinder of all the members of the 

Class is impracticable. 

b. Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and the 

class that predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the class. 

These predominant common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 (i) Whether Defendant's policy of classifying all Small Business Bankers 

as exempt is legal under California law; 

(ii) Whether Defendant's expectation that Small Business Bankers would 

be primarily engaged in exempt work was realistic; 

(iii) Whether Defendant's policy of not providing meal and rest periods is 

legal under California law; and, 

(iv) Whether Defendant took all reasonable steps to reimburse Small 

Business Bankers for business-related expenses or, alternatively, whether Defendant 

had a cle facto policy or practice of not reimbursing for such expenses. 

Typicality: Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the class. Plaintiff and 

other Small Business Bankers sustained injuries and damages, and were deprived of property 

rightly belonging to them, arising out of and caused by Defendant's common course of 

conduct in violation of law as alleged herein, in similar ways and for the same types of 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 C t  

18 

19 

20 

21 expenses. 

d. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff is a member of the class and will fairly j 

and adequately represent and protect the interests of the class. Plaintiffs interests do not i 

conflict with those of other class members. Counsel who represent Plaintiff are competent and 

experienced in litigating large wage and hour class actions and will devote sufficient time and 

resources to the case and otherwise adequately represent the class. j 

Superiority of Class Action: A class action is superior to other available means | 
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for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of all Small 

Business Bankers is not practicable, and questions of law and fact common to the class 

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the class. Each class 

member has been damaged or may be damaged in the future by reason of Defendant's 

unlawful policies and/or practices as alleged herein. Certification of this case as a class action 

will allow those similarly situated persons to litigate their claims in the manner that is most 

efficient and economical for the parties and the judicial system. Certifying this case as a class 

action is superior because Plaintiff seeks relief that will affect all Small Business Bankers in a 

common way, and will also allow for efficient and full disgorgement of the ill-gotten gains 

Defendant has enjoyed by maintaining its unlawful business policies and practices, and will 

thereby effectuate California's strong public policy of protecting employees from deprivation 

or offsetting of compensation earned in their employment. If this action is not certified as a 

class action, it will be impossible as a practical matter for many or most Small Business 

Bankers to bring individual actions to recover monies unlawfully withheld from their lawful 

compensation due from Defendant due to the relatively small amounts of such individual 

recoveries relative to the costs, burdens, and risks of litigation. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 17 

FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME COMPENSATION 18 

(Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203) 19 

22. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

23. California Wage Order 4-2001, 8 C.C.R. § 11040, and Labor Code § 510 state that an 

employee must be paid overtime, equal to 1.5 times the employee's regular rate of pay, for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 per week and/or 8 per day. 

24. Class members regularly work more than 40 hours per week and/or 8 hours per day but 

are not paid overtime. 

25. Class members do not meet any of the tests for exempt status under the California 

20 
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Wage Orders and/or the California Labor Code. Plaintiff and the class did not and do not perform 

work directly related to the management or general business operations of either Defendant or 

Defendant's customers, they are/were primarily engaged in inside sales and sales related activities, 

and they did not and do not spend a majority of their time on exempt tasks. 

26. Defendant has violated California labor law by not paying the required overtime pay to 

Plaintiff and the members of the Class. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

27. Defendant has committed an act of unfair competition by not paying the required 

overtime pay to Plaintiff and the class. 

28. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff requests an 

order requiring Defendant to make restitution of all overtime wages due to them and the members of 

the class in an amount to be proved at hearing, an injunction and declaratory relief to enjoin 

Defendant from such conduct in the future, and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs per CCP § 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 1021.5. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 14 

MEAL AND REST BREAK VIOLATIONS 15 

(Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203) 16 

29. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

30. In violation of Labor Code § 512 and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, Defendant failed to 

provide and document meal and rest period breaks for the class in the number, length and manner as 

required. At no time has the Plaintiff or the class entered into any written agreement with Defendant 

expressly or impliedly waiving their right to their meal and rest breaks. Plaintiff and the class have 

been injured by Defendant's failure to comply with Labor Code § 512 and IWC Wage Order 4-2001. 

31. Defendant has committed an act of unfair competition by not providing meal and rest 

breaks in the number, length and manner as required by law. 

32. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff requests an 

order requiring Defendant to make restitution of all wages due to them and the members of the class 

17 

18 
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in an amount to be proved at hearing, an injunction and declaratory relief to enjoin Defendant from 

such conduct in the future, and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs per CCP § 1021.5. 

1 

2 

3 THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

4 FAILURE TO REIMBURSE BUSINESS EXPENSES 

(Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203) 5 

33. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

34. Labor Code § 2802 provides that "[a]n employer shall indemnify his or her employee 

for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct consequence of the 

discharge of his or her duties." 

35. While discharging their duties for Defendant, Plaintiff and the class have incurred 

work-related expenses. Such expenses include but are not limited to travel, parking, mileage, and tolls 

charges. Defendant knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the class incurred work-related 

expenses yet did not take reasonable steps to ensure that Plaintiff and the class were reimbursed. 

36. Defendant has failed to indemnify or in any manner reimburse Plaintiff and the class 

for these expenditures and losses. By requiting those employees to pay expenses and cover losses that 

they incurred in direct consequence of the discharge of their duties for Defendant and/or in obedience 

of Defendant's direction or expectations, Defendant has violated and continues to violate Labor Code 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 § 2802. 

37. Defendant has committed an act of unfair competition by not reimbursing Plaintiff and 

the class for all reasonable and necessary business expenses Plaintiff and the class incurred for the 

benefit of Defendant. 

20 

21 

22 

38. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code § 17203, Plaintiff requests an 

order requiring Defendant to make restitution of all work-related expenses due to her and the 

members of the class in an amount to be proved at hearing, an injunction and declaratory relief to 

enjoin Defendant from such conduct in the future, and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs per CCP § 

23 

24 

25 

26 

1021.5. 27 

28 
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1 

2 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

3 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

For an Order certifying the proposed class and designating this action as a class 

action pursuant to CCP § 382; 

For a declaratory and injunctive relief; 

For an Order appointing Plaintiff and his counsel to represent the proposed 

class as defined in this Complaint; 

For restitution according to proof; 

For an order requiring Defendant to provide an accounting of all wages and all 

sums unlawfully charged back and withheld from compensation due to Plaintiff 

and the other members of the proposed class; 

For interest according to proof; 

For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; and 

For such other relief the Court deems just and proper. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 4 

10 

11 

12 

13 6. 

14 

15 8. 

16 DATED: October 13, 2017 WYNNE LAW FIRM 
17 

J-I 18 
By: Edward J. Wynne 

19 Attorneys for Plaintiff Laura Lopez, individually 
and on behalf of all others similar situated 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

10 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

RG 17853209 

Exhibit E

Exhibit E

Case 3:18-cv-02346-JSC   Document 1-5   Filed 04/18/18   Page 11 of 11



Exhibit F

Exhibit F

Case 3:18-cv-02346-JSC   Document 1-6   Filed 04/18/18   Page 1 of 1



Bank of America, National Association Wynne Law Firm 
Attn: Wynne Esq, Edward J. 
80 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd 
Suite 3G 
Larkspur, CA 94939 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

No. RG17853209 Lopez 
Plaintifif7Petitioner(s) 

Order 
VS. 

Complaint - Other Employment 

Bank of America, National Association 
Defendant/Respondent(s) 

(Abbreviated Title) 

The Complex Determination Hearing was set for hearing on 09/19/2017 at 03:00 PM in Department 23 
before the Honorable Brad Seligman. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been contested. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: COMPLEX DETERMINATION 

The Court designates this case as complex pursuant to Rule 3.400 et seq. of the California Rules of 
Court. Counsel are advised to be familiar with the Alameda County Local Rules concerning complex 
litigation, including Rule 3.250 et seq. An order assigning the case to one of the three complex judges 
and an initial case management order will be issued. 

COMPLEX CASE FEES 

Pursuant to Government Code section 70616, any non-exempt party who has appeared in the action but 
has not paid the complex case fee is required to pay the fee within ten days of the filing of this order. 
The complex case fee is $1,000 for each plaintiff or group of plaintiffs appearing together and $1,000 
PER PARTY for each defendant, intervener, respondent or other adverse party, whether filing 
separately or jointly, up to a maximum of $18,000 for all adverse parties. All payments must identify 
on whose behalf the fee is submitted. Please submit payment to the attention of the Complex Litigation 
Clerk located in the Civil Division at the Rene C. Davidson Courthouse, 1225 Fallon Street, Oakland, 
CA 94612. Please make check(s) payable to the Clerk of the Superior Court. Documents may 
continue to be filed as allowed under Local Rule 1.9. Note that for those admitted pro hac vice, there is 
also an annual fee. (Gov't Code section 70617.) 

PROCEDURES 

Calendar information, filings, and tentative rulings are available to the public at 
http://www.alameda.courts.ca.gov/domainweb/. All counsel are expected to be familiar and to comply 
with pertinent provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, the California Rules of Court, the Alameda 
County Superior Court Local Rules. 

SERVICE OF THIS ORDER 

Counsel for plaintiff(s) shall have a continuing obligation to serve a copy of this order on newly joined 

Order 
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parties defendant not listed on the proof of sendee of this order and file proof of service. Each party 
defendant joining any third party cross-defendant shall have a continuing duty to serve a copy of this 
order on newly joined cross-defendants and to file proof of service. 

facsimile 

Dated: 09/19/2017 

Judge Brad Seligman 

Order 
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Case Number: RG17853209 
Order After Hearing Re: of 09/19/2017 

DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

I certify that I am not a party to this cause and that a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing document was mailed first class, postage prepaid, in a sealed envelope, 
addressed as shown on the foregoing document or on the attached, and that the 
mailing of the foregoing and execution of this certificate occurred at 
1225 Fallon Street, Oakland, California. 

Executed on 09/21/2017. 
Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Court 

- > digaai 

Qffiinum By 
Deputy Clerk 
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IV.    Nature of Suit.  Place an “X” in the appropriate box. If the nature of suit cannot be determined, be sure the cause of action, in Section VI below, is 
sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerk(s) in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of suit. If the cause fits more than 
one nature of suit, select the most definitive. 

V.     Origin.  Place an “X” in one of the six boxes. 

(1) Original Proceedings. Cases originating in the United States district courts. 

(2) Removed from State Court. Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 USC § 1441. When the 
petition for removal is granted, check this box. 

(3) Remanded from Appellate Court. Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing 
date.

(4) Reinstated or Reopened. Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. 

(5) Transferred from Another District. For cases transferred under Title 28 USC § 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or 
multidistrict litigation transfers. 

(6) Multidistrict Litigation Transfer. Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 USC 
§ 1407. When this box is checked, do not check (5) above. 

(8) Multidistrict Litigation Direct File. Check this box when a multidistrict litigation case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. 

Please note that there is no Origin Code 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statute.

VI.    Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional 
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC § 553. Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service. 

VII.   Requested in Complaint.  Class Action. Place an “X” in this box if you are filing a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. 

Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.

Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

VIII. Related Cases.  This section of the JS-CAND 44 is used to identify related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket 
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. 

IX.    Divisional Assignment. If the Nature of Suit is under Property Rights or Prisoner Petitions or the matter is a Securities Class Action, leave this 
section blank. For all other cases, identify the divisional venue according to Civil Local Rule 3-2: “the county in which a substantial part of the 
events or omissions which give rise to the claim occurred or in which a substantial part of the property that is the subject of the action is situated.” 

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.  I am over the age of 
eighteen years and not a party to the within action; my business address is 1800 Century Park 
East, 8th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 

On April 18, 2018, I served the following document described as CIVL CASE COVER 
SHEET on the interested parties in this action by placing true copies thereof enclosed in sealed 
envelopes addressed as follows: 

 
Edward J. Wynne, Esq. 
WYNNE LAW FIRM 

80 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Suite 3G 
Larkspur, CA 94939 

Telephone:  415-461-6400; Facsimile: 415-461-3900 
Email:  ewynne@wynnelawfirm.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  

 
 BY MAIL:  I am “readily familiar” with the firm’s practice of collection and processing 

correspondence for mailing with the United States Postal Service.  Under that practice, it 
would be deposited with the United States Postal Service that same day in the ordinary 
course of business.  Such envelope(s) were placed for collection and mailing with postage 
thereon fully prepaid at Los Angeles, CA, on that same day following ordinary business 
practices.  (C.C.P. § 1013 (a) and 1013a(3)) 

 BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY:  I deposited such document(s) in a box or other facility 
regularly maintained by the overnight service carrier, or delivered such document(s) to a 
courier or driver authorized by the overnight service carrier to receive documents, in an 
envelope or package designated by the overnight service carrier with delivery fees paid or 
provided for, addressed to the person(s) served hereunder.  (C.C.P. § 1013(d)(e)) 

 BY PERSONAL SERVICE:  I caused such envelope(s) to be delivered the addressee(s).  
(C.C.P. § 1011) 

I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose 
direction the service was made. 

Executed on April 18, 2018, at Los Angeles, CA. 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
Vaneta D. Birtha 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Bank of America Employees Misclassified as Exempt from Overtime Pay, Class Action Says

https://www.classaction.org/news/bank-of-america-employees-misclassified-as-exempt-from-overtime-pay-class-action-says

	Email:   mmandel@mcguirewoods.com
	John A. Van Hook (SBN 205067)
	Email:   jvanhook@mcguirewoods.com
	I.  USTATEMENT OF JURISDICTION: CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT
	1. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332 and 1441, removal to this Court is proper under CAFA.  Under CAFA, this Court has jurisdiction over class actions where any member of the class is a citizen of a State different from any defendant, and where the aggreg...
	2. As required by 28 U.S.C. § 1441, Defendant seeks to remove this case to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California which is the District Court embracing the place where the State Court Action has been filed.
	3. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), Defendant will provide contemporaneous written notice of this Notice of Removal to all adverse parties and to the Clerk of the State Court.
	4. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), and is one which may be removed to this Court by Defendant, because (1) the number of members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the aggregate is at least 1...
	5. Plaintiff Laura Lopez (“Plaintiff”) alleges that Defendant misclassified her and other salaried putative class members (“PCMs”) as “exempt” from overtime, and thereby failed to pay for straight time or overtime compensation for overtime hours, fail...
	6. Plaintiff purports to bring this action pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure § 382 as a class action, and seeks certification on behalf of the following PCMs:
	All persons who are or have been employed, at any time from March 14, 2013 through the date of the Court’s granting of class certification in this matter, by Bank of America, National Association in California under the job title Small Business Banker...
	See FAC [Exh. E],  20.
	III. USTATUS OF PLEADINGS
	23. True and correct copies of every process, pleading, and order served on Defendant in the State Action are attached hereto as the exhibits identified below:
	IV. UCAFA JURISDICTION IS SATISFIED
	28. Plaintiff’s Citizenship.  Defendant is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that, at the time that the State Court Action was filed and at the time that this Notice of Removal is filed, Plaintiff is a resident and citizen of the State of Ca...
	30. Doe Defendants.  The Amended Complaint also names “DOES 1 through 10” as defendants.  For purposes of removal, “the citizenship of defendants sued under fictitious names shall be disregarded.”  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).  Therefore, for purposes of remo...
	32. According to Plaintiff, the members of the putative class that she purports to represent “are numerous and therefore joinder of all the members of the Class is impracticable.”  See FAC [Exh. E],  21(a).  Plaintiff also alleges that her claims are...
	33. The claims of the individual members in a class action are aggregated to determine if the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5 million.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).  In addition, Congress intended for federal jurisdiction to be app...
	34. Here, Plaintiff does not allege a specific amount in controversy in the FAC.  Thus, the Court must first consider as evidence of the amount in controversy that which is “facially apparent” on the Complaint.  See, e.g., Rippee v. Boston Market Corp...
	35. Plaintiff asserts three causes of action against Defendant, each asserted under the UCL, based on her allegations that Defendant had uniform unlawful policies and procedures, including:
	a. Unpaid overtime:  that Defendant “has violated California labor law” and “has committed an act of unfair competition” by not paying the required overtime pay to the Plaintiff and the members of the Class  Exh. E (Amended Complaint)  26-27;
	b. Meal and rest period violations:  that Defendant  “failed to provide and document meal and rest period breaks for the class in number, length and manner as required,”  Id. at  30, and “has committed an act of unfair competition by not providing me...
	c. Unreimbursed business expenses: that Defendant “failed to indemnify or in any manner reimburse Plaintiff and the class for [alleged work-related expenses].  Id. at  36.

	36. Thus, Plaintiff seeks damages, inter alia, for failure to pay overtime, failure to provide and document meal and rest breaks, failure to pay work related expenditures, and attorneys’ fees and costs.  See generally FAC [Exh. E].
	37. While Defendant denies any liability as to Plaintiff’s claims, based on the allegations, claims, and prayer for relief set forth in the Complaint and Plaintiff’s own admissions, the amount in controversy in this action, exclusive of interest and c...
	38. For purposes of this Notice of Removal, Bank of America avers as follows:
	a. From March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, there were 379 individuals who worked as exempt Small Business Bankers for Defendant in California and they worked 35,166 workweeks.
	b. Between March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, the average hourly rate of pay for these 379 employees was $30.82.
	c. Between March 14, 2013 through December 12, 2016, the average rate of pay including non-discretionary bonuses for these 379 employees was $53.17.

	39. Although this data is reasonable, for purposes of this Notice of Removal, Defendant uses the lower figures for regular hourly rates and workweeks that Plaintiff previously provided and conceded were reasonable, as follows:
	a. Plaintiff and the PCMs earned a regular hourly rate of $28.84; and
	c. Plaintiff worked an average of 15 hours of overtime during each active workweek.

	40. Overtime Compensation Claim.   Plaintiff’s First Cause of Action alleges that the Bank violated California law by not paying required overtime pay to Plaintiff and the PCMs.  See FAC [Exh. E.],  22-28.
	41. Accepting for purposes of this Notice of Removal only that each PCM earned an average regular rate of $28.84 (the regular rate of pay that Plaintiff asserts was her regular rate and more appropriate for extrapolation purposes), that there were 26,...
	42. Attorneys’ Fees.  Plaintiff’s Complaint also seeks an award of statutory attorneys’ fees.  It is settled in the Ninth Circuit that where attorneys’ fees are authorized by statute, they are appropriately part of the calculation of the “amount in co...
	Attorneys’ Fees
	9th Circuit  Benchmark
	Amount in Controversy
	Cause of Action
	Overtime Compensation Claim
	$1,426,174
	x 25%
	$5,704,696
	43. Accordingly, even using an overtime estimate for PCMs that is only 1/3 of the overtime claimed by Plaintiff herself, the total amount in controversy for Plaintiff’s claims asserted in this action, conservatively estimated, is well over the $5,000,...
	Amount in Controversy
	Remedies Sought
	$5,704,696
	Overtime Compensation Claim
	$1,426,174
	Statutory Attorneys’ Fees
	$7,130,870
	TOTAL AMOUNT IN CONTROVERSY
	44. In sum, because there exists diversity of citizenship between Plaintiff and Defendant, and because the amount in controversy exceeds CAFA’s $5,000,000.00 jurisdictional threshold, Defendant may remove this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) a...
	V. UVENUE
	45. Venue lies in this Court because Plaintiff’s action is pending in this district and division.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).
	46. Nothing in this Notice of Removal is intended nor should be construed as any type of express or implied admission by Defendant of any fact, of the validity or merits of any of Plaintiff’s claims, causes of action, and allegations, or of any liabil...
	///
	///
	///
	///
	WHEREFORE, Defendant requests that the above-captioned action now pending in the State Court be removed to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.



